**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA**

**No. 24-670**

**TIM SECRIST and WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN  
RESOURCES,**  
*Defendants Below, Petitioners,*

**v.**

**TAMMY WATKINS (formerly Mounts), Administratrix of the Estate of William  
McKinsey May,**  
*Plaintiff Below, Respondent.*

---

Honorable Kelly Codispoti  
Circuit Court of Logan County  
Civil Action No. 22-C-96

---

**PETITIONERS' BRIEF**

---

Mark C. Dean (WVSB No. 12017)  
Brittany L. O'Saile (WVSB No. 14296)  
Steptoe & Johnson PLLC  
P.O. Box 1588  
Charleston, WV 25326-1588  
Telephone: (304) 353-8000  
[Mark.Dean@steptoe-johnson.com](mailto:Mark.Dean@steptoe-johnson.com)

## ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in denying Petitioner West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources (“DHHR”)’s Motion to Dismiss premised upon DHHR’s qualified immunity from claims such as Respondent’s.

2. The Circuit Court erred in denying Petitioner Tim Secrist’s Motion to Dismiss by concluding that the questions of whether Mr. Secrist’s purported actions “were ministerial functions which are violative of statutory duties pursuant to W. Va. Code § 9-6-14” or “willful, wanton, and/or intentional [such that they] are excepted from immunity pursuant to W. Va. Code § 9-6-2(d)[,]” are questions of fact requiring jury determination rather than determining that the threshold question of qualified immunity is a legal one for the Court.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

“Defendant West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources is an insured state agency with its principal place of business in Charleston, Kanawha County, West Virginia, and it maintains an Adult Protective Service office in Logan County, West Virginia.”<sup>2</sup> “At all times [alleged in Ms. Watkins’ Complaint], defendant Tim Secrist was an Adult Protective Service[s] (APS) worker acting as an agent, servant and employee of defendant West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources (WV DHHR).”<sup>3</sup> William McKinsey May “was a person who

---

<sup>1</sup> Because the instant Order on appeal is an Order denying WVDHHR’s and Tim Secrist’s Motion to Dismiss, the recitation of facts below stems directly from Ms. Watkins’ Complaint and the pleadings filed in response. The court ordinarily assumes the allegations stated in the complaint to be true and construes the pleading in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. *See John W. Lodge Distr. Co. v. Texaco, Inc.*, 161 W. Va. 603, 604–05, 245 S.E.2d 157, 158 (1978).

<sup>2</sup> Pl.’s Compl. at ¶ 5 [J.A. 00016].

<sup>3</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 6 [J.A. 00016].

suffered from mental retardation and, as such, was a ‘vulnerable adult’ as defined in West Virginia Code § 9-6-1(5).”<sup>4</sup>

“On or about April 16, 2020, a referral was made to the Adult Protective Services office in Logan, West Virginia, regarding allegations of abuse/neglect involving the decedent, William McKinsey May.”<sup>5</sup> “On April 23, 2020, Defendant Tim Secrist conducted a face-to-face interview with the decedent, the decedent’s sister, Candus May, and the sister’s boyfriend, Charles Adkins and made a report thereof as a result of his duties as an APS worker.”<sup>6</sup> During his initial visit, Mr. Secrist was “accompanied by Logan County Sheriff’s Deputy Sean Jarrells . . .” and made numerous findings related to the home’s condition.<sup>7</sup> Mr. Secrist also spoke directly to Mr. May, who “was alert and oriented . . .” and “inspected [Mr.] May’s feet as they had been reported to be black likely resulting from a medical condition . . . .”<sup>8</sup> Mr. May’s feet were not black at the time of Mr. Secrist’s inspection.<sup>9</sup> Mr. Secrist “noted that [Mr.] May was not overly thin, though he noted that he could use a extra few pounds.”<sup>10</sup> Mr. Secrist then made other findings related to the home, including notations regarding the toilet and water outlets.<sup>11</sup> At the end of Mr. Secrist’s initial visit, Mr. May’s sister and caretaker, Candus May, asked Mr. Secrist if he was going to remove Mr. May from the home.<sup>12</sup> Mr. Secrist responded that “he was unsure, but noted that some findings would have to be fixed rather soon in order to keep from removing [Mr. May] to another home.”<sup>13</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 9 [J.A. 00016].

<sup>5</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 11 [J.A. 00016].

<sup>6</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 12 [J.A. 00017].

<sup>7</sup> *See id.* at ¶¶ 13–23 [J.A. 00017–00018].

<sup>8</sup> *See id.* at ¶¶ 24–27 [J.A. 00018].

<sup>9</sup> *See id.* at ¶ 27 [J.A. 00018].

<sup>10</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 28 [J.A. 00018].

<sup>11</sup> *See id.* at ¶¶ 29–31 [J.A. 00018–00019].

<sup>12</sup> *See id.* at ¶ 32 [J.A. 00019].

<sup>13</sup> *See id.* at ¶ 33 [J.A. 00019].

Mr. Secrist then asked Ms. May about her income and obtained a telephone number for future contact.<sup>14</sup>

Later that same day, Mr. Secrist called Ms. May “and informed her that he did not want to remove [Mr.] May from the home though it was very close to being necessary.”<sup>15</sup> “In response, . . . Candus May informed [Mr.] Secrist that Appalachian Power was to install electrical service to the home on May 3, 2020.”<sup>16</sup> Mr. Secrist informed Ms. May “that he would be back to the home on May 4, 2020, to see if the electrical service was connected and the other issues corrected; if, however, the electrical service was not connected and the deficiencies [not] corrected, [Mr.] Secrist would start to get [Mr.] May to a safer place.”<sup>17</sup> Specifically, in addition to the electrical service, Mr. Secrist advised that “the kitchen/dining area where [Mr.] May’s recliner was located needed to be cleared so he could use his walker adequately[,]” “the hallway and back door needed cleared enough to allow the residents a safe escape from the home in case of fire and the clothes dryer blocking the toilet must be moved to allow everyone access to the toilet[,]” and the refrigerator [must] be working, be able to keep food cold, and must contain food when he returned.”<sup>18</sup>

On May 4, 2020, Mr. Secrist returned to the home and noted many improvements. Mr. Secrist observed “that steps had been added to the front porch, yet it contained no handrail[,]” “the kitchen area was more open on this visit and [Mr.] May was located in a bedroom off the kitchen[,]” “the bedroom was small but provided room to move around[,]” and “a mini-fridge had been purchased and contained food but the refrigerator was being run from a generator as the

---

<sup>14</sup> See *id.* at ¶ 34 [J.A. 00019].

<sup>15</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 35 [J.A. 00019].

<sup>16</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 36 [J.A. 00019].

<sup>17</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 37 [J.A. 00019].

<sup>18</sup> *Id.* at ¶¶ 38–40 [J.A. 00019–00020].

electrical service had yet to be connected.”<sup>19</sup> Due to the substantial improvements made inside and outside of the home, “[Mr.] Secrist noted that there did not appear to be a reason to remove [Mr.] May from the home at th[at] time . . . .”<sup>20</sup>

On May 20, 2020, Mr. Secrist again visited the home.<sup>21</sup> Mr. Secrist noted that “the home was ‘still a wreck’ due to remodeling and noted that the electrical service ‘still’ had not been connected to the home.”<sup>22</sup> On June 3, 2020, Mr. Secrist again telephoned Ms. May to discuss the status of electrical service, and she advised him that her boyfriend “Charles Adkins had gone to get wiring at Lowe’s to connect the power as they were speaking.”<sup>23</sup> Ms. May stated that she would contact Mr. Secrist “as soon as the electrical service had been connected.”<sup>24</sup> Based on these representations and the improvements previously made to the home, Mr. Secrist decided to “close[] the referral and [] not open an APS case” on or about June 30, 2020.<sup>25</sup>

Ms. Watkins (Plaintiff-below and Respondent herein) contends that due to “[Mr.] Secrist’s willful and wanton misconduct and/or intentional misconduct, [Mr.] May was left in the care of Candus May and Charles Adkins as a result of [Mr.] Secrist’s and/or [] WV DHHR’s failure to remove him, failure to refer the matter to the prosecuting attorney, and/or failure to seek court intervention.”<sup>26</sup> “[A]s a result, [Mr.] May endured severe injuries and trauma while remaining in the home that was the subject of the abuse/neglect complaint[,]” ultimately passing away on August 14, 2020.<sup>27</sup>

\* \* \*

---

<sup>19</sup> *Id.* at ¶¶ 42–45 [J.A. 00020].

<sup>20</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 46 [J.A. 00020].

<sup>21</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 48 [J.A. 00020].

<sup>22</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 50 [J.A. 00021].

<sup>23</sup> *See id.* at ¶¶ 53–54 [J.A. 00021].

<sup>24</sup> *See id.* at ¶ 55 [J.A. 00021].

<sup>25</sup> *See id.* at ¶ 57 [J.A. 00021].

<sup>26</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 63 [J.A. 00023].

<sup>27</sup> *See id.* at ¶¶ 64–66 [J.A. 00023].

Ms. Watkins’ Complaint summarily describes the essence of her claim in a single paragraph—“had [Mr.] Secrist and/or any other agent of [] WV DHHR removed [Mr.] May, referred the matter to the prosecuting attorney, or sought court intervention, [Mr.] May would not have been in the house nor would he have remained in the house wherein his lethal injuries occurred.”<sup>28</sup> Ms. Watkins challenges Mr. Secrist’s and DHHR’s, specifically Adult Protective Services (“APS”)’s discretionary decision to not remove Mr. May from his home after thorough investigations into a report of abuse and neglect. Ms. Watkins’ wrongful death claim against Mr. Secrist and DHHR is the quintessential type of claim to which qualified immunity applies. Accordingly, Mr. Secrist and DHHR filed Motions to Dismiss with the trial court on July 28, 2023.<sup>29</sup> Further briefing ensued, and the Court held a hearing on October 12, 2023.

On October 9, 2024, the trial court entered an “Integrated Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion to Amend Complaint and Denying Defs.’ Mot. to Dismiss.”<sup>30</sup> The trial court’s Order overlooks the substantive arguments advanced by DHHR and asserts that, the questions of whether Mr. Secrist’s purported actions “were ministerial functions which are violative of statutory duties pursuant to W. Va. Code § 9-6-14” or “willful, wanton, and/or intentional [such that they] are excepted from immunity pursuant to W. Va. Code § 9-6-2(d)” are questions of fact requiring jury determination.<sup>31</sup> Thus, according to the Court, the question of whether Mr. Secrist is qualifiedly immune (and, presumably, whether DHHR is qualifiedly immune) from Ms. Watkins’ suit sits

---

<sup>28</sup> See *id.* at ¶ 62 [J.A. 00022].

<sup>29</sup> See Def. Tim. Secrist’s Mot. to Dismiss and to Strike & Def. DHHR’s Mot. to Dismiss and to Strike [J.A. 00034–00150 & J.A. 00152–00190, respectively].

<sup>30</sup> See “Integrated Order Granting Pl.’s Mot. to Am. Compl. and Denying Defs.’ Mot. to Dismiss” (Oct. 9, 2024) [J.A. 00001–00008].

<sup>31</sup> See *id.* at ¶¶ 21, 24 [J.A. 00005–00006].

with the jury, not the judge. Insofar as qualified immunity is a well-settled area of law intended as a complete bar from suit, Petitioners now challenge these determinations.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At its core, qualified immunity shields government officials, agencies, and employees from “civil liability [for actions undertaken in their official capacities] so long as the actions do not violate a clearly established law or constitutional duty.” *W. Va. State Police v. Hughes*, 238 W. Va. 406, 411, 796 S.E.2d 193, 198 (2017). “Qualified immunity is broad and protects ‘all but the plainly incompetent or those who knowingly violate the law.’” *Id.* (quoting *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 148, 479 S.E.2d 649, 658 (1996)). As courts have long recognized in the case of child placement decisions, removal decisions “involve[] weighing professional opinions of child abuse against the obvious interests in maintaining the integrity of a household,” and result in a “tug and pull of competing concerns.” *White ex rel. White v. Chambliss*, 112 F.3d 731, 736 (4th Cir. 1997).

“Premature action by a social worker can disrupt the legitimate interest parents possess in raising and disciplining their children. On the other hand, a failure to act can leave a child defenseless in the face of physical abuse and brutality.” *Id.* The doctrine of qualified immunity recognizes this difficult and seemingly impossible position and affords such decisionmakers immunity to avoid “the course of public agencies . . . becom[ing] one of inaction, thus leaving children in abusive environments.” *Id.* These fundamental principles apply with equal force to removal decisions regarding “vulnerable adults,” such as Mr. May. *See* W. Va. Code § 9-6-1(5).<sup>32</sup>

---

<sup>32</sup> In fact, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia, when analyzing qualified immunity for an APS investigative decision, deemed the case “analogous to *Crouch*[.]” a case related to CPS workers. *See Markham v. W. Va. Dep’t of Health & Hum. Res.*, No. 19-0163, 2020 WL 2735435, at \*7 (W. Va. May 26, 2020) (memorandum decision).

“Because an objective of qualified immunity is to save specific individuals and agencies from suit and, when appropriate, from pre-trial discovery and litigation, deferring a ruling on qualified immunity acts as an effective denial of such protections.” *W. Va. State Police v. J.H.*, 244 W. Va. 720, 730–31, 856 S.E.2d 679, 689–690 (2021). “The ultimate determination of whether qualified or statutory immunity bars a civil action is one of law for the court to determine,” and thus, is an issue ripe for a motion to dismiss. Syl. Pt. 1, *Hutchinson v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 479 S.E.2d 649 (1996).

In this case, the Circuit Court ruled that the questions of whether Mr. Secrist’s purported actions “were ministerial functions which are violative of statutory duties pursuant to W. Va. Code § 9-6-14” or “willful, wanton, and/or intentional [such that they] are excepted from immunity pursuant to W. Va. Code § 9-6-2(d)” are questions of fact requiring jury determination.<sup>33</sup> The Circuit Court further denied DHHR’s motion to dismiss without substantively addressing the arguments advanced by DHHR in support thereof. Insofar as Ms. Watkins’ allegations clearly implicate the doctrine of qualified immunity, this Court should reverse the Circuit Court’s decision and hold that both DHHR and Mr. Secrist are qualifiedly immune from Ms. Watkins’ suit.

#### **STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION**

Oral argument pursuant to Rule 19(a)(1) of the *West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure* is appropriate in this case, as this appeal involves an “assignment[ ] of error in the application of settled law”—namely, the doctrine of qualified immunity. Alternatively, to the extent that this appeal involves issues of fundamental public importance, Petitioners request oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the *West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure*. There is public interest in this appeal because the doctrine of qualified immunity provides immunity from suit. If state

---

<sup>33</sup> See “Integrated Order Granting Pl.’s Mot. to Am. Compl. and Denying Defs.’ Mot. to Dismiss” at ¶¶ 21, 24 [J.A. 00005–00006].

agencies and their respective employees must undergo discovery (or, as the subject Circuit Court Order concludes, a jury determination) prior to deciding whether qualified immunity applies, the doctrine and the reasons therefor are obviated.

Should the Court set this matter for oral argument, Petitioners submit that the ten (10) minutes of argument afforded under *W.Va. R. App. P.* 19(e) is sufficient. Insofar as “[a] memorandum decision reversing the decision of a circuit court should be issued in limited circumstances.[.]” and Petitioners are seeking a reversal of the Circuit Court’s Order denying their respective motions to dismiss, Petitioners do not anticipate resolution through Memorandum Decision.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A circuit court’s denial of a motion to dismiss based on qualified immunity is immediately appealable. *See* Syl. Pt. 1, *W. Va. Bd. of Ed. v. Marple*, 236 W. Va. 654, 783 S.E.2d 75 (2015). “The ultimate determination of whether qualified or statutory immunity bars a civil action is one of law for the court to determine. Therefore, unless there is a bona fide dispute as to the foundational or historical facts that underlie the immunity determination, the ultimate questions of statutory or qualified immunity are ripe for summary disposition.” Syl. Pt. 1, *Hutchinson v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 479 S.E.2d 649 (1996).

“When a party . . . assigns as error a circuit court’s denial of a motion to dismiss, the circuit court’s disposition of the motion to dismiss will be reviewed *de novo*.” Syl. Pt. 4, *W. Va. St. Police v. J.H.*, 244 W. Va. 720, 856 S.E.2d 679 (2021) (alteration in original) (internal quotation omitted). “*De novo* means that this Court ‘give[s] a new, complete and unqualified review to the parties’ arguments and the record before the circuit court’ under the same standard employed by the circuit court: ‘The trial court, in appraising the sufficiency of a complaint on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, should not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set

of facts in support of h[er] claim which would entitle h[er] to relief.” *W. Va. Div. of Corrs. & Rehab. v. Robbins*, 248 W. Va. 515, 523, 889 S.E.2d 88, 96 (2023) (first quoting *Doe v. Logan Cnty. Bd. of Educ.*, 242 W. Va. 45, 48, 829 S.E.2d 45, 48 (2019); and then quoting Syl. Pt. 3, *Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co.*, 160 W. Va. 530, 236 S.E.2d 207 (1977)).

Under West Virginia law, immunities “are more than a defense to a suit in that they grant governmental bodies and public officials the right not to be subject to the burden of trial at all.” *Id.* at 523, 889 S.E.2d at 96 (quoting *Hutchinson*, 198 W. Va. at 148, 479 S.E.2d at 658). “A State agency or public official is denied that right irrevocably if required to try a claim from which the agency or official is immune; ‘[t]he very heart of the immunity defense is that it spares the defendant from having to go forward with an inquiry into the merits of the case.’” *Id.* at 523, 889 S.E.2d at 96 (quoting *Hutchinson*, 198 W. Va. at 148, 479 S.E.2d at 658). “Due to that strong public policy, [this Court] ha[s] advised that ‘[p]ublic officials . . . should be entitled to qualified immunity from suit . . . unless it is shown by specific allegations that the immunity does not apply.’” *Id.* at 523, 889 S.E.2d at 96 (quoting *Hutchinson*, 198 W. Va. at 147–48, 479 S.E.2d at 657–58). Only where “the information contained in the pleadings is sufficient to justify the case proceeding further [should] the early motion to dismiss [] be denied.” *Hutchinson*, 198 W. Va. at 150, 479 S.E.2d at 660.

## ARGUMENT

Ms. Watkins’ lawsuit asserts a wrongful death claim against Petitioners DHHR and Mr. Secrist.<sup>34</sup> In support of her claim, Ms. Watkins alleges the following:

---

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