IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 24-670

**TIM SECRIST and WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
RESOURCES,**
Defendants Below, Petitioners,

v.

**TAMMY WATKINS (formerly Mounts), Administratrix of the Estate of William
McKinsey May,**
Plaintiff Below, Respondent.

Honorable Kelly Codispoti
Circuit Court of Logan County
Civil Action No. 22-C-96

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Robert B. Kuenzel, WV State Bar 8972
Kuenzel Law, PLLC
36 Adams Street
P.O. Box 607
Chapmanville, WV 25508-0607
304.310.4263
304.310.4264 (facsimile)
rob@kuenzellaw.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Respondent-Plaintiff has presented sufficient particular allegations which outline the elements of a negligence cause of action of against the Petitioners-Defendants' in their investigation of a neglect or abuse of the decedent, Mr. May, who was entrusted to their care as a vulnerable or incapacitated individual. Their failure to act in a willful, wanton and intentional manner, left Mr. May in home conditions of substantial risk of serious harm to his health and

⁴⁶ See Plaintiff's Integrated Response to Defendant Secrist's and Defendant DHHR's Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Strike (JA00206-217), and Defendants' Integrated Reply (JA 00219-00248)

⁴⁷ JA00197-202)

⁴⁸ See "Integrated Order Granting Pl.'s Mot. to Am. Compl. and Denying Defs.' Mot. to Dismiss" (Oct. 9, 2024) (J.A. 00001-00008)

⁴⁹ See *id.* at ¶¶7-24, Conclusion after ¶30 (J.A. 00003-00007).

⁵⁰ See *id.* at ¶¶ 25-28 (J.A. 00006-00007).

⁵¹ See *id.* at ¶¶ 1-2, 29-30 (J.A. 00002, 00007).

safety. Qualified immunity does not shield their actions from liability because their willful, wanton and intentional conduct are specifically excepted from immunity by W.Va.Code §9-6-2(d). Moreover, their conduct violated the decedent's clear statutory rights when the Petitioner-Defendant Secrist failed to investigate reports of abuse and neglect, coordinate with prosecuting attorneys or law enforcement officers by reporting alleged conduct or take any further action, like remove him from the home, before the risk was fully ameliorated. This conduct created serious risk of harm and ultimately led to Mr. May's injuries and his wrongful death. Any factual issues in doubt underlying the claims must be resolved by a jury. The trial court correctly denied the Petitioners-Defendants' Motion to Dismiss.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioners seek oral argument before this court pursuant to Rule 19(a)(1) as the issues concern the application of qualified immunity, which is settled law within West Virginia. Respondent asserts that oral argument is unnecessary here because the trial judge's order presents a thorough legal analysis of the issue after a robust presentation at a hearing and through pleadings by the parties. However, the Respondent does not object if the Court wants to grant the Petitioners' request, and if granted, will seek to rebut the Petitioner's arguments orally as well.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Appellate Court reviews a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss de novo. *Workman v. Logan Cnty. Bd. of Educ.*, 247 W. Va. 463, 469, 881 S.E.2d 374, 380 (2022)(citing *Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995)). "On de novo review, the Court 'give[s] a new, complete and unqualified review to the parties' arguments and the record before the circuit court.'" *Id.* (citing *Doe v. Logan Cnty. Bd. of Educ.*, 242 W. Va. 45, 48, 829 S.E.2d 45, 48 (2019)).

"In West Virginia practice, motions to dismiss are generally viewed with disfavor". *Id.* (citing *Fass v. Newsco Well Serv., Ltd.*, 177 W. Va. 50, 51, 350 S.E.2d 562, 563 (1986)).

Moreover, the Appellate Courts test the sufficiency of the complaint by the same rubric applied by the circuit courts in a motion to dismiss. *Monongalia Cnty. Comm'n v. Stewart*, No. 22-765, 2024 W. Va. LEXIS 497, *12 (September 17, 2024) (Exhibit, "Exh.", A) (citing *W. Va. Dep't of Hum. Servs. v. A.R.*, 249 W. Va. 590, 596, 900 S.E.2d 16, 22 (2024)). Thus, in deciding a motion to dismiss in a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the court "should not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief." *Id.* (quoting *Syl. Pt. 3, Chapman v. Kane Transfer Company*, 160 W. Va. [530], 236 S.E.2d 207 (1977) (other internal citations omitted); See also *Judy v. E. W. Va. Cnty. & Tech. Coll.*, 246 W. Va. 483, 486-487; 874 S.E.2d 285, 288-289 (2022)) Critically, courts must construe "the factual allegations in the light most favorable to the plaintiff." *Judy v. E. W. Va. Cnty. & Tech. Coll.*, 246 W. Va. at 486-487; 874 S.E.2d at 288-289; *Murphy v. Smallridge*, 196 W. Va. 35, 36, 468 S.E.2d 167, 168 (1996).

Generally, complaints are to be read liberally under the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick*, 194 W. Va. 770, 776, 461 S.E.2d 516, 522 (1995); citing, *Mandolidis v. Elkins Indus., Inc.*, 161 W. Va. 695, 246 S.E.2d 907 (1978). As set forth in W. Va. R.C.P., Rules 8(a)(2) and (e)(1), which underlies Rule 12(b)(6), a complaint must provide clarity and notice, but in most cases, not necessarily complete details." *Workman*, 247 W. Va. at 469, 881 S.E.2d at 380 (citing *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 770, 776, 461 S.E.2d 516, 522 (1995)). "To survive a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), '[t]he complaint must set forth enough information to outline the elements of a claim or permit inferences to be drawn that these elements exist.'" *Id.* (citing *Mountaineer*

Fire & Rescue Equip., LLC v. City Nat'l Bank of W. Va., 244 W. Va. 508, 521, 854 S.E.2d 870, 883 (2020) (quoting Fass, 177 W. Va. at 52, 350 S.E.2d at 563)).

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court correctly concluded that the Watkins Complaint presented particular allegations which could establish to a jury that Secrist is not entitled to qualified immunity on Ms. Watkins' claim against him.

Cases where an immunity defense is implicated, the court may exercise a closer review of the complaint⁵² due to the preference for early consideration of the issue. *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 149-150; 479 S.E.2d 649, 659-660 (1996); See also *Monongalia Cnty. Comm'n v. Stewart*, 2024 W. Va. LEXIS 497, *27-30 (Exh. A); *Doe v. Logan Cty. Bd. of Educ.*, 242 W. Va. 45, 49-50; 829 S.E.2d 45, 49-50 (2019); *Workman*, 247 W. Va. at 471, 881 S.E.2d at 382. In conducting this review, the court recognizes that a “plaintiff is not required to anticipate the defense of immunity in his complaint. *Doe v. Logan Cty. Bd. of Educ.*, 242 W. Va. 45, 49-50; 829 S.E.2d 45, 49-50 (2019) (citing *Gomez v. Toledo*, 446 U.S. 635, 640, 100 S.Ct. 1920, 1923-24, 64 L.Ed.2d 572 (1980)). The court also understands that the public officials should be entitled to immunity unless there are particular allegations which “inform its conclusions” underlying the claim’s elements, including any inferences drawn therein. *W. Va. Div. of Corrs. & Rehab. v. Robbins*, 248 W. Va. 515, 527, 889 S.E.2d 88, 100, See fn 52 (2023) Thus, the court must undertake some examination or analysis of the “qualified immunity framework” *Id.* (“This contrasts with the order we recently deemed insufficient in *West Virginia Regional Jail & Correctional Facility Authority v. Est. of Grove*, 244 W. Va. 273, 852 S.E.2d 773 (2020)”, where there was no such examination).

⁵² Courts refer to this closer review as a “heightened pleading” review. However, this is considered to be a “misnomer” because plaintiffs are not required to counter immunity defense in a complaint. *W. Va. Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. Estate of Grove*, 244 W. Va. 273, 281-282; 852 S.E.2d 773, 781-782 (2020); *Doe v. Logan Cty. Bd. of Educ.*, 242 W. Va. 45, 49-50; 829 S.E.2d 45, 49-50 (2019); *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 149-150; 479 S.E.2d 649, 659-660 (1996)

“When weighing a proper course, the goal of the trial court should be the same as that espoused by the Rules of Civil Procedure: to have the case heard on the merits and not on the pleadings of the parties' lawyers.” *Gable v. Gable*, 245 W. Va. 213, 222; 858 S.E.2d 838, 847; (2021). This assessment must be done on a case-by-case basis. *W. Va. Dep't of Health, Off. of the Chief Med. Exam'r v. Cipoletti*, 902 S.E.2d 133, 138 (W.Va. Sup. Ct., 2024)(citing *Syl. Pt. 9, in part, Parkulo v. W. Va. Bd. of Probation and Parole*, 199 W. Va. 161, 483 S.E.2d 507 (1996)). “I(i)f the individual circumstances of the case indicate that the plaintiff has pleaded his or her best case, there is no need to order more detailed pleadings. If the information contained in the pleadings is sufficient to justify the case proceeding further, the early motion to dismiss should be denied.” *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 149-50, 479 S.E.2d 649, 659-60 (1996) (emphasis added). *Accord Portee v. City of Mount Hope*, No. 17-0546, 2018 WL 3203157, at *2 (W. Va. June 29, 2018) (memorandum decision); See also *W. Va. Div. of Corrs. & Rehab. v. Robbins*, 248 W. Va. 515, 520; 889 S.E.2d 88, 92 (2023).

If such particular allegations are not present, other procedural mechanisms such as requiring a more definite statement or allowing the plaintiff to amend the complaint, should be ordered, before granting the drastic remedy of dismissal. *Gable v. Gable*, 245 W. Va. 213, 222; 858 S.E.2d 838, 847 (2021) (“*Hutchison* makes clear that there is a panoply of procedural tools available to trial courts and practitioners to ensure that the claims in a plaintiff's complaint are clear to all, tools far gentler than the punitive act of dismissal”); *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 149-150; 479 S.E.2d 649, 659-660 (1996); See also *Robbins*, 248 W. Va. at 515, 889 S.E.2d 88; *Workman*, 247 W. Va. at 471-472; 881 S.E.2d at 382-383.

A. West Virginia Code 9-6-2(d) limits immunity for APS caseworkers dealing with vulnerable adults.

“Qualified immunity is an immunity from suit afforded to public officials and State agencies under certain conditions. It flows not from constitutional, sovereign immunity but *is a judge-made doctrine* intended to allow officials to do their jobs and to exercise judgment, wisdom, and sense without worry of being sued.” *Robbins*, 248 W. Va. at 524, 889 S.E.2d at 97 (internal citation, quotation and footnotes omitted)(Emphasis added). W.Va.Code §9-6-2 falls under Article 6 which governs public services for vulnerable or incapacitated adults. The immunity provision in W.Va.Code §9-6-2(d) states in pertinent part, “(d) An adult protective services caseworker may not be held personally liable for any professional decision or action arrived at in the performance of his or her official duties as set forth in this section or agency rules promulgated: *Provided, That nothing in this subsection protects any adult protective services worker from any liability ... for any loss caused by willful and wanton misconduct or intentional misconduct.*” (Emphasis added).

"A statutory provision which is clear and unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts but will be given full force and effect." *State ex rel. Biafore v. Tomblin*, 236 W. Va. 528, 530, 782 S.E.2d 223, 225 (Syl. Pt. 6)(2016), Citing, *Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Epperly*, 135 W.Va.877, 65 S.E.2d 488 (1951). Additionally, "In ascertaining legislative intent, effect must be given to each part of the statute and to the statute as a whole so as to accomplish the general purpose of the legislation." *White v. Wyeth*, 227 W. Va. 131, 133, 705 S.E.2d 828, 830 (Syl. Pt. 2)(2010) Citing, *Syl. Pt. 2, Smith v. State Workmen's Compensation Commissioner*, 159 W. Va.108, 219 S.E.2d 361 (1975).⁵³ See also *Eldercare of Jackson Cnty., LLC v. Lambert*, 902 S.E.2d 840, 843 (W.V. Sup. Ct., 2024)("The trial court did not err by denying petitioner's motion to dismiss respondents' action alleging fraud and elder

⁵³ *Integrated Order Granting Pl. 's Mot. to Am. Compl. and Denying Defs. ' Mot. to Dismiss*" (Oct. 9, 2024), at ¶¶8-9 (JA0003-4)

abuse pursuant to W. Va. Code § 55-19-7 because the complaint sufficiently pled that petitioner engaged in intentional conduct with actual malice and therefore petitioner was not entitled to immunity.”)

The plain reading of this statute indicates that the legislature recognized government immunity but chose to limit it for Adult Protect Services officers if a loss is caused by his or her willful, wanton, or intentional misconduct. There is no ambiguity here. It must be given full force and effect. This is exactly what the court appropriately found below:

10. The case at hand asserts claims against DHHR and its agent, Defendant Secrist. Thus, the plaintiff points to W.Va.Code §9-6-2(d) in opposition to defendants’ Motion to Dismiss.⁵⁴

After examining the complaint allegations which showed that the decedent met the definition of a vulnerable adult needing protection, and asserted specific conduct by Petitioner Secrist, acting under his authority as an APS officer which could fall under the statute, the court also determined that:

15. The plaintiff alleges that some of Defendant Secrist’s actions were ministerial functions which are violative of statutory duties pursuant to W.Va.Code §9-6-14; thus, the plaintiff asserts that Defendant Secrist’s ministerial actions are not qualifiedly immune.

16. Additionally, the plaintiff asserts allegations that Defendant Secrist’s conduct was done in a willful, wanton and/or intentional manner.

17. W.Va.Code §9-6-2(d) specifically excepts adult protective service workers from liability protections; thus, a worker cannot be immune if the loss was caused by the worker’s “willful and wanton misconduct or intentional misconduct.”

18. Accordingly, as plaintiff asserts that Defendant Secrist’s actions were willful, wanton and/or intentional, such actions particularly are excepted from immunity pursuant to W.Va.Code §9-6-2(d).⁵⁵

⁵⁴ See *Integrated Order Granting Pl. ’s Mot. to Am. Compl. and Denying Defs. ’ Mot. to Dismiss*” (Oct. 9, 2024), (JA0004)

⁵⁵ *Id.* at JA0005.

Therefore, the court then appropriately determined that these allegations, when taken as true, “give rise prima facie case of negligence”, which cannot be dismissed without jury resolution.⁵⁶ *Kizer v. Harper*, 211 W. Va. 47, 52, 561 S.E.2d 368, 373 (2001), citing, *Simmons v. City of Bluefield*, 159 W.Va.451, 225 S.E.2d 202, 88 A.L.R.3d 105 (Syl. Pt. 3)(1975); *Jones v. Two Rivers Ford, Inc.*, 171 W.Va.561, 301 S.E.2d 192 (Syl. Pt. 3, in part)(1983). The Petitioners-Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss were correctly denied.

B. Even if not initially statutorily excepted, allegations support bar of qualified immunity defense to be presented to the jury.

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